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LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF MANITOBA
Monday, February 24, 1992

The House metat8 p.m.
DEBATE ON SECOND READINGS

Blll 5—The Manitoba Advisory Councll on
the Status of Women Amendment Act

Madam Deputy Speaker (Loulse Dacquay):
Order, please. Will the House now come to order.

The honourable member for Inkster to resume .

debate on second reading of Bill 5 (The Manitoba
Advisory Council on the Status of Women
Amendment Act). The honourable member has 21
minutes remaining.

Mr. Kevin Lamoureux (Inkster): Madam Deputy
Speakaer, it is always tough when you have a break
of that nature, you are somewhat inclined to revisit
some of the things that | might have put on the
record a bit earlier, because | know there are
different members in here. | am going to try to
refrain from doing that because after all the member
for St. Johns (Ms. Wasylycia-Leis) who is in a major
role on the comments that | made earlier this
afternoon, but | have saved another. | would not
disappoint her, because | am always somewhat
hopeful that she would be able to hear this.

You know, in talking abouthow they say one thing
onone hand and do another thing on the otherhand,
Madam Deputy Speaker, what really gets most
members of the Chamber somewhat upset with the
New Democratic Party is when they take that—can
| use holier than thou—attitude on a number of
issues. | think the member for St. Johns said a lot
in one of the statements that she made in regard to
Bill 5, when it comes to that whole concept of the
holier than thou attitude. | want to quote what it is
the member for St. Johns said. It was in regard to
women's issues and the whole question of equality
and so forth. She says, regrettably that the advice
was not taken seriously by her own colleagues or by
the Liberal Party for that matter and sexist language
continues in this Chamber.

Madam Deputy Speaker, it was interesting right
after she made that comment. | believe there was
some heckling from across the floor, and then she
quickly tried to couch those comments by saying,

well, for some, it is an educating process and we
have to sensitize some, possibly even from within
our own caucus. | think it is fair to say that, if there
is any party in this Chamber that has a sexist
attitude, itis the New Democratic Party. Allwe have
to do is revisit a few of the speeches that some of
the members, and | do not really necessarily want
to point out any members, because | think without
even having to say those names that the individuals
inside this Chamber know who some of those
people are.

| would ask the member for St. Johns to reflect
very seriously on the speech that she gave and to
do what maybe the member for Wellington (Ms.
Barrett) did. As | said at the beginning of the
speech, | thought that was an honourable thing to
apologize on some of the remarks that she had
made. | would suggest to you that the member for
St. Johns should review what it is that she in fact
said and call into question in terms of what might not
necessarily have been stretching truth, maybe not
quite as truthful, and come forward when we go into
the committee stage and hopefully come with an
open mind. | know she is on the record already
saying: Bill 5, no, | do not support it; it does not
matter if the women in the province support it, but |
personally am not going to support it.

We have to believe thatthe Deputy Leader of the
New Democratic Party was speaking on behalf of
the New Democratic Party when she said that they
do notsupportthat name.

As her colleague who spoke right after, the
member for St. Johns (Ms. Wasylycia-Leis) was
very clear in terms of what they felt was in the best
interest of women, but they have really closed the
door to any type of ability to be able to listen to what
women might actually have to say about Bill 5. That
is because, Madam Deputy Speaker, they already
know what it is that they want.

Madam Deputy Speaker, that is something | am
hoping the member for St. Johns in particular, but
the NDP caucus as a whole, will revisit the
arguments that they put forward to take into account
really and truly what is in the best interests of the
women of the province.
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| guess | somewhat feel for the member for St.
Johns, because | really and truly believe that she
unintentionally boxed herself into that corner. Now
she is put in a situation in which maybe certain
members have made her feel somewhat
uncomfortable now that she is not going to be able
to change her mind. Madam Deputy Speaker, there
is some honour in flip-flopping. It is something we
have seen. ltis notlike itwould be a new precedent.

| would encourage the member for St. Johns. |
am not saying that she has to fall inlove with this bill
andsupportit, butatleast gotothe committee stage
with an open mind. Do not go to the committee
stage with your mind already set in stone in terms
of what is going to be going on.

ltisnotlike, after all, we are debatingthe final offer
selection or some philosophical point of view,
Madam Deputy Speaker. You can approach this
committee with an open mind, so thatwhen there is
someone before committee, whether it is a woman
or whether it is a man, that the NDP caucus be
open-minded, that they listen to what they have to
say, that the recommendation they are suggesting
is not necessarily the best way to do it, that other
individuals outside the New Democratic Party can
come up with good Ideas.

Madam Deputy Speaker, | would encourage very
much so, that they do open their minds. |know that
on Thursday we were prepared to pass it into the
committee, and | do not necessarily want to hold it
up, because | think, as the Leader of the Liberal
Party (Mrs. Carstairs) said, we want this bill to go
into committee. [interjection]

The member for Thompson (Mr. Ashton) asked
me if | want unlimited time. | suggested to the
Leader of my party that she could possibly
designate me on this particular bill, but | found—

Some Honourable Members: Leave.
Mr. Lamoureux: Waell, the NDP say leave.

Madam Deputy Speaker, | would like to see the
bill pass into the committee stage and would
suggest to all parties, because | had made clear in
terms of what the Liberal Party’s position is on this,
that we walk into the committee with an open mind,
and if more debate is givenand a betteridea comes
up from the committee stage, that the minister be
receptive to any amendment.

Whateverdoes happen, Madam Deputy Speaker,
we support what the women of the province want.
[interjection] The member for St. Johns (Ms.
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Wasylycia-Leis) asks if we are going to suggest an
amendment. Well, unlike the member for St. Johns,
I will not take the position in suggesting that this will
be the amendment. This is the name that is best
suited for the women of the province. You have
already made up your mind.

| am not going to take this opportunity to box
myself in and sit inside the committee and really not
listento what presenters might have to say, because
my mind in going into committee will be open to
them. We will support what the women of the
province want. All indications were, back at the
committee stage, when the member for St. Johns
was sitting right beside me when the whole matter
came up in the first place, that the women support
this particular amendment.

The minister had a letter which | had read
verbatim into the record earlier this afternoon. The
indication from all of the different outside
organizations, Madam Deputy Speaker, if they are
all supporting it, well, | think we have a responsibility
to live up to what those expectations from those
outside organizations, women's organizations, are
talking about. At times, and this is one of those
issues | would suggest to you, the parties should be
a bit more sympathetic. | know at least two are, but
the NDP should also be a bit more sympathetic to
what the women outside the New Democratic Party
want. Hopefully, they will do that, they will not try to
manipulate the committee in any fashion in order to
try and force their amendment that they are going to
be proposing.

If the women of the province and the presenters
feel thatis the direction that they want to go, Madam
Deputy Speaker, let them take the opportunity to
come forward to make the presentations, because
at least the Liberal Party will be going to the
committee with an open mind, and we will do what
we feel is in the best interest from the women. What
the women support in this province is what the
Liberal Party will support on this particular issue. |
can only encourage that the New Democratic Party
do likewise and do what is in the best interest of the
women of the province of Manitoba.

On that note, because | know they were wanting
to pass it on Thursday, | will sit down and allow the
bill to go to committee. Thank you very much.
*(2010)

Hon. Linda Mcintosh (Minister of Consumer and
Corporate Affalrs): Madam Deputy Speaker, | am
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pleased to add my comments to those that have
been made already in this debate. | would like to
begin by indicating that we on this side of the House
support organizations and individuals being able to
be called what they wish to be called. We support
the name changes outlined in the bill, because the
women involved want that change. We support
their right and the right of all individuals and
organizationsto choose their own names, unlike the
indication we have received from the official
opposition who support choice, it appears, only
whenitis a choice acceptable to the NDP. |believe
in the rights of individuals to exercise choice in their
lives, unlike, as | made reference eatrlier, the official
opposition which says it believes in choice and then
advocates stifling all choices that are different from
their choice.

The member for St. Johns (Ms. Wasylycia-Leis)
took exception to the Minister responsible for the
Status of Women's comments when she said, and |
quote from Hansard: “The Minister responsible for
the Status of Women is suggesting that we should
do what the women want.”

Imagine that, Madam Deputy Speaker. Imagine
thenerve of the minister that we do whatthe women
want. Why, if we let them run amuck making their
own choices, they may choose to do something
other than what the NDP want.

Let me quote some other remarks made by the
member for St. Johns in this debate, remarks which
indicate her desire and that of her party to restrict
choice for women, and remarks incidentally which |
found personally offensive.

The member said, and | quote from Hansard:
*We have seen every step of this way under the
Conservative government of Manitoba an erosion of
progress achieved by women in this province over
the years.” She goes on: “We have seen for all the
steps forward taken by women and women's
organizations over the years gone by, many steps
taken backwards under the Conservatives of
Manitoba. We have seen that in substantive ways
and in symbolic ways . . .. On the symbolic side,”
she says, “we have seen many examples of how this
government really feels about women'’s equality. . .
. It follows after a number of other symbolic
gestures made by members of the Conservative
government. . . . We have seen the debate,” she
says, “when it comes to how women are addressed
and choose™—choose—"to be addressed with the
clear demarcation made between Liberals and
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Conservatives and New Democratic Party women
in this Chamber. Madam Deputy Speaker,” saidthe
member for St. Johns, ‘let me elaborate for the
Minister of Consumer and Corporate Affairs,"—that
is me, Madam Deputy Speaker, and | take offense
to this next portion—"It has been a clear decision on
the part of Conservative and Liberal Parties to
choose the terminology Mrs. when being addressed
in this Chamber or outside this Chamber. It has
been a clear and deliberate choice™—a choice,
which the member says she supports choice, but
here she is criticizing us for making a choice thatis
not like hers—"It has been a clear, and deliberate
choice on the part of women on this side of the
House"—meaning hers—"to choose the
terminology, Ms.”

| do not mind them choosing the terminology “Ms.
because we support choice. We, however, are not
accorded that same courtesy in the other direction.
The member then says, “Clearly,” says the member
who does not support choice, “Clearly, we have
touched a sore spot when it comes to the real
intentions of this government. Itis a step backward.
It is a move to eliminate choice for women. We on
this side of the House,” said the member for St.
Johns, “will defend to the day the right of people to
make choices.”

That is what she said. She said, with her words
she said she will defend choice. With her actions
she revealed that she would restrict choice. They
will defend to the day the right of the people to make
choices, will they, Madam Deputy
Speaker?—except for my choice. | choose. The
member is correct. | chooss, and she is afraid to
look at me when | say this, | choose to let my marital
status be known by using the title “Mrs.” Thatis my
choice. |do not have to explain or justify or present
rationale for why | have made this choice. Itis my
choice.

Contrary to the member for St. Johns chirping
away in her seat, chirping away self-righteously
about how she supports choice while condemning
me publicly for my choice and condemning my
colleagues for their choice for one reason only,
because my choice is not the choice that she made.

| support the member for St. Johns and any other
member of this House who chooses to keep their
marital status private by using the title, Ms. |support
them in that. | ask for the same consideration in
return for my choice.
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The main differences between that side of the
House, Madam Deputy Speaker, and this side ofthe
House is that we say we support choice and we do;
they say they support choice and they do not.

| would like to ask which side of this House is more
open-minded, which side of the House has no tunnel
vision, which side of the House is a true advocate
for choice for women. | think the record stands for
itself; the comments in Hansard stand for
themselves. We support choice; they do not.

The member for St. Johns, twice in her
comments, made reference to me in my role as
Minister of Consumer and Corporate Affairs. She
said in her speech that because we on this side of
the House opt to use the title, Mrs., as is our choice,
that we are somehow backward and do not care
about the advancement of women and do not care
to see women achieve and get ahead.

Let me put this in a personal context. | was the
first woman to chair the St. James-Assinlbola
School Division Board, at that time the second
largest school division in the province of Manitoba.
| do not consider that a backward achievement for
women. |was one of the firstwomen tobe a service
scouter in the Boy Scouts movement, not the Girl
Scouts, not the Gild Guides. | was the second
woman in our parish church to become a lay reader
and lay administrant. | was one of the first handful
of women to serve as president of the Manitoba
Association of School Trustees.

My colleague, the member for St. Vital (Mrs.
Render), was the first woman in Canadato fly in a
CF-18 last summer. How many on that side of the
House have done that—in North America, the first
woman to fly in a CF-18, to do a loop, to do a twirl.
How many over there say that is not presenting a
positive role model for equality of achievement in
women?

| could go on about the list of achievements on
this side of the House, but | only have 40 minutes,
Madam Deputy Speaker.

All | want to say is that there are just as many
female MLAS on this side of the House as there are
on thatside of the House, and the people who voted
for us voted for us on merit, on competence, not
because they felt pressure to vote for us because of
our gender. They had faith in our ability to get the
job done. No one, no single constituent ever
mentionedtome, infact, no one has ever mentioned
to me until the member for St. Johns (Ms.

February 24, 1992

Wasylycia-Leis) the other day that because | chose
atitle, which is my right and my choice, when | chose
the title Mrs. instead of the title Ms. nobody has ever
suggested that | am somehow unworthy or lacking
in backbone or drive, or spirit, or intelligence, or in
capability. [interjection] You know you have to
consider the source of the comments.

| listened earlier, Madam Deputy Speaker, to the
member for Niakwa (Mr. Reimer) and the member
for Inkster (Mr. Lamoureux) who spoke highly of the
abilities of individuals, of men and women, of the
individual MLA, and who supported them in their
right to choose their own title. What do | hear from
the NDP male MLAs? Let me tell you what | hear
from the NDP male MLAs. You on the other side all
cringed when the member for Broadway (Mr.
Santos) made his comments about women in the
House. You cringed but you condemned not. You
did not deny, rescind, condemn, criticize in any way
the comments of that member, but you stand in the
House and criticize me for making a choice as to
what | choose to be called.

* (2020)

| submit that the member for St. Johns (Ms.
Wasylycla-Leis) displayed a narrowness of mind
when she said that she believes in choice for women
and makes it abundantly clear that what she really
means is choice for women if, and only if, that choice
is the same as hers. How narrow, how controlling.
The members opposite would control all our
cholces, our vision, all our preferences, all our
values and traditions, and yet we on this side
support and applaud them in their response and
desires, their specific needs and their specific
choice asto whatto be called. We support them but
they do notsupport us. Whoiis the real advocate for
choice? But | digress.

Let me quote again from the member for
Broadway (Mr. Santos), who expressed views that
members opposite have never disclaimed. | am
paraphrasing, Madam Deputy Speaker, because |
do not have the Hansard here. | do not have the
direct quote, but | do recall the intent of the quote,
many, many quotes, but the one that sticks in my
mind as being particularly offensive was the quote
that went something like this: A man makes a
decision to marry, and that is the last decision the
man ever makes.

That statement and others of its ilk were left
uncondemned by the members opposite, and | want
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to ask if that is how the NDP feels about
partnerships, that in order for the male not to be
dominating, the female must be dominant?
Whatever happened to co-operation, to shared
responsibilities, to true partnerships? No, if the
male is not to be dominating, then the female must
be dominant. What about partnership?

How about the scandalous comments made by
the former NDP cabinet minister, Andy Anstett? |
am sure you all remember them. Those | do have
here. Andy asked—{interjection)

The member for Thompson (Mr. Ashton) is
burbling in his chair again, honking on and on in his
self-righteous way about all the things that we have
done, but he does not want to hear what they have
done. He does notwanttohear. He wishes to have
the record expunged of everything that they have
done that shows they have a problem with sexism
on that side of the House unparalleled in this
Chamber.

When Andy Anstett, NDP municipal affairs
minister, said this joke to the Manitoba Association
of Urban Municipalities in convention, he told the
story about a woman who was stuck in the mud on
a country road—{interjection] You do not want me
to go down that path? The member for Thompson
(Mr. Ashton) does not want to go down this path
again. | am quite convinced the member for
Thompson does not want to go down this path
again. When | stop hearing self-righteous
comments from that side of the House, we will not
have to go down these roads again.

The joke went like this: It told the story about a
woman who was stuck in the mud on a country road.
She asks a man with a tractor to pull her out. The
man says, you are the third pregnantwoman | have
pulled out of the mud today. The woman says, but
| am not pregnant. The man says, you are not out
of the mud yet.

What was the political commentary on this
particular quote? Waell, Frances Russell, the writer
for the Free Press—([interjection]

An Honourable Member: Who?

Mrs.Mcintosh: Frances Russell, columnist for the
Free Press. | know the members opposite do not
want to hear this, but | am having to shout just to be
heard over my own voice.

Some Honourable Members: We are listening.

LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF MANITOBA 666

Mrs. Mcintosh: Thank you very much. Here is
what Frances Russell had to say about the NDP.
New Democrats, she said— :

An Honourable Member: | am glad you are
quoting Frances.

Mrs. Mcintosh: | am, too. | am delighted to quote
Frances on this. New Democrats could do with
some humbling on that score, she said. They are
prone to be holier than thou about social causes.
They give the impression that they, and they alone,
are pure of thought, word and deed on all matters
having to do with human rights. That Anstett joke,
she said, is notthe firsttaste of humility for Manitoba
New Democrats.

Madam Deputy Speaker, | really hate to have to
bring these things up. When the member for St.
Johns (Ms. Wasylycia-Leis) rose and spoke the way
she did about the Leader of the Liberal Party (Mrs.
Carstalrs) andthe women on this side ofthe House,
the Leader of the Liberal Party chose to speak on a
point of privilege, | was tempted to do the same. |
felt though, however, | would have an opportunity in
debate to address the insults she had hurled at us.
|say thatyou live bythe sword; youdiebythe sword.
Hurl insults at us, and we would seek then to have
our position clarified.

Our position is that we do believe in choice for
women. One other comment that was made.
When the member for St. Johns (Ms,
Wasylycia-Leis) said that a name is important and
that was a statement | agreed with. She made the
statement that a name is important, and that was a
correct statement. | just wish that she felt she had
an understanding of the importance of my name to
me and of the names of hundreds of thousands of
Manitoba women who opt to choose some title other
than Ms. for their names, hundreds of thousands of
women who have opted for some other title than
Ms., who also would like to have their names
considered important and not a step backwards for
women because they have exercised choice.

Someone | respected very much once said, my
grandmother was a lady, my mother was one of the
girls, | am a woman, and my daughter is a doctor.
Women can call themselves doctor or reverend or
minister or professor or Ms. or Miss or even Mrs. It
is still allowed. Any of those titles are fine by me,
and any of those titles are fine by the people on this
side of the House. It is unfortunate they are notfine
by members opposite. We wish the same courtesy
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was provided to all women by the member opposite
and her colleagues who have not distanced
themselves from her unfortunate and discourteous
statements.

Madam Deputy Speaker, if the women's
organizations wish to alter their name to avoid
confusion, then | support them. The members
opposite have made their intentions crystal clear.
They have put on the record that they will not
support this bill. They have put on the record that
they will not vote to allow these organizations to
have their names changed. They have put that on
the record. They do not support choice. That is
narrow. How narrow. How very sad.

Hon. Bonnle Mitchelson (Minister of Culture,
Heritage and Cltizenship): Madam Deputy
Speakaer, | look forward to this piece of legislation
going to committee and listening to the women who
have clearly come forward to this government and
asked for this name change. They have chosen for
their own reasons to have a change of name so that,
in fact, they could clear up the confusion that exists
between the two organizations with the same
acronyms and very similar names.

* (2030)

I respect their choice to request a name change.
Woe as a government and, | know, the Liberal Party
are supporting the women in the community who
have asked for this. They have recommended to
government a change of name and, Madam Deputy
Speaker, we will accede to their wishes. We look
forward to those women who come forward in the
best interests of all Manitoba women and, indeed,
all people of Manitoba.

As we go through the process of public hearings
on this issue, | do know that the majority of women
who support this will come forward. In fact, we as a
government will support their request.

Madam Deputy Speaker: Is the House ready for
the question? The question before the House is
second reading of Bill 5. Is it the will of the House
to adopt the motion?

Some Honourable Members: Agreed.

Madam Deputy Speaker: Agreed and so ordered.

Blll 10—The Manitoba Hydro
Amendment Act

MadamDeputy Speaker: Onthe proposed motion
ofthe honourable Minister of Energy and Mines (Mr.

February 24, 1992

Downey), to continue debate on second reading of
Bill 10 (The Manitoba Hydro Amendment Act),
standing in the name of the honourable member for
Point Douglas (Mr. Hickes).

Mr. George Hickes (Point Douglas): It gives me
pleasure to speak to this bill because | think itis a
very important bill for all Manitobans and especially
for individuals who live in the North, for the northemn
aboriginal people and for northerners and all
Manitobans.

When this bill was introduced, it has raised in the
funding of $150 million to $500 million for Manitoba
Hydro, so if you look at the raising of funds to borrow
and to spend, what would that tell you? | think it
would tell you that it looks like it is really the
Conawapa bill, in order to get the money through to
start access in the construction of Conawapa. This
bill deals directly with Manitoba Hydro and
Conawapa falls under Manitoba Hydro, so | would
like to address a few comments on Conawapa.

First of all, when the Conawapa project was
brought before the Public Utilities Board, it was
proven at that time, or it seemed to be economically
sound at that time with the figures that were
presented to the Public Utilities Board. That was
before Manitoba Hydro bought into Power Smart
program and put more emphasis on the
conservation of energy. Now whatwe are seeingis
that Manitoba Hydro is starting to cut back or saving
more power and is able to reduce its power
consumption all across Manitoba. So when we see
thatif we have a stronger conservation program in
place, as we see here as the years advance, then
what is to say that we could not really save 10
percent of conservation?

When we initiated a resolution, we were looking
at consumption of 6 percent reduction in the use of
energy and we were told, well, that is really foolish.
How do we know if it could be 6 percent, 2 percent,
or if it could be 10 percent or 20 percent? No one
can really answer that. We were talking about that
during Estimates at that time, and now we see
where even Manitoba Hydro is coming out and
saying that, yes, we can conserve energy and, yes,
we do not know if Manitoba needs the power from
Conawapa until the year 2012. Some are saying
2009. Some are saying 2007. Well, whatis the real
year?

When everything went before the Public Utilities
Board with the figures and everything that they had,



February 24, 1992

they said we need power in Manitoba by the year
1999 or the year 2000, and thatis where they made
their decisions on. Then they said we should go
ahead with Conawapa in order to haveit builtin time
to meet Manitoba'’s needs.

Alot of those figures have changed. Why canwe
not have the real figures of today presented back to
the Public Utilities Board and see what they say to
us? We asked the minister during Question Period
last week, | asked the minister, and he, and even
the Premier (Mr. Filmon) had stated, we have the
figures, we do not need to go back for hearings.

| do notknow if even Ontario, if they need that kind
of power today. |, for one, am not against building
Conawapa, and | do not think anybody on this side
of the House is against Conawapa. | do not think
anybody is. The only ones | heard state right flatly
who were against Conawapa were the Liberal
Party—they are the only ones. Initially, they were
against Limestone anyway, so what is the
difference?

What we are saying on this side of the House is
that we have rules and regulations to follow. We
have the Public Utilities Board that gives directions
to Manitoba Hydro, so let us take it to the Public
Utilities Board with the information that we have
today. If they say go ahead with it, and we meet all
the requirements and barriers that are there for the
construction of Conawapa, if we can overcome
those, then let us go ahead with the project. | have
no problems with that.

The other thing that we hear is the whole thing
about the environmental assessment act. | hear
over and over, and | have only been in this Chamber
since September 11, 1990, and | am not sure what
has happened in the past, but | know that | hear the
government side say, well, what about Limestone?
What about Limestone? Where was The
Environment Act for Limestone?

If you go back in Hansard, you will see where it
was the NDP that broughtin The Environment Act
in 1987. It was the NDP. Sitting here without
knowing all of the past, | was sitting here and |
thought, well, they must have brought the act in
because they were so proudofthe act, and they kept
throwing the act at us. They said, well, what about
The EnvironmentAct, what about The Environment
Act?

Then | realized, holy smokes, that is the first time
since | have been here where the other side had
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really shown strong support of NDP initiative. | only
learned this shortly after coming into the House, and
| was very surprised, but it was a pleasant surprise.
| am glad to see that if it is a good act, they will
supportit. Itwas proclaimedin 1988, andlike | said,
it is a good act. We are very, very proud of it. Let
us utilize and use thatact for the right purpose why
itis there.

What happened to the board or the committee
that was struck by the government, when the
individuals who were concerned about the
environment would have had their chance to have
their say and the pros and cons of the whole
environmental act? | was hoping, with those
environmental hearings, that | would have heard
and would have seen some aboriginal groups and
organizations come out and state their opinion onit,
and what they are concerned and worried about.

| was fortunate enough this past weekend to
spend quite a bit of time with some aboriginal
leaders. There is some concem out there. There is
some worry, and they are wondering where all this
is going. During Question Period | asked. During
Estimates | asked again,and | wastold by the former
minister that the aboriginal people will be at the top
of the list to consult and to meet with and to make
sure that aboriginal concerns will be addressed.
Aboriginal organizations and their leaders will be
contacted and consulted with very closely. Madam
Deputy Speaker, | hope that is happening.

| stress to the government that it is very crucial,
and it is very, very important to make sure that the
aboriginal communities and the organizations and
the leaders are not only consulted with but are
brought in as equal partners to discuss this, and to
come to the right conclusion that will meet
Manitoba’'s needs and meet the aboriginal needs. |
think that is very important.

* (2040)

When | start addressing aboriginal and northern
issues and aboriginal concerns, one area that | am
very concerned about, and we here on this side of
the House. We have not heard a thing aboutiit and
| do not know when it will be addressed, but | hope
the government will address it. It is the whole area
of the potential training programs for northern and
aboriginal people, to ensure that the preferential
hiring clauses will be enforced, which is northern
aboriginal people, then northerners. Those are the
first two on the priority list. To ensure thatthose are
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carried through, you have to have a strong
aggressive training program in place.

| was part of that Limestone Training Program,
and | heard the former Education minister attacking
that program. | can tell you, | have kept close
contact with a lot of aboriginal northerners, and |
know today that a lot of those individuals are still
gainfully employed because of that training
initiative. Itis not a big pat on the back for the NDP
party at that time or even now. It is for whoever is
in government to take that initiative to address
aboriginal issues and aboriginal concerns seriously.

When we talk about training programs, those
training programs should be open for all
northerners, and they should be delivered in
northern communities and somewhere in a northem
area. |hope thatthis government will reverse some
of the trends that they have set since the last
election where some of the initiatives and some of
the issues for northerners and aboriginal people in
the North, where they were moved from their own
communities to say, a bigger centre, into
Thompson, have uplifted their families and have
gone into Thompson to further their own careers and
to hopefully gain employment opportunities, where
some of those programs they could be in their final
year and bang, they are uprooted again, moved to
Winnipeg to go to Red River Community College. Is
that fair to those individuals? |say no. ltis not fair
to those individuals. They already had to uproot
their families and move once already, and after
coming from a remote community they have made
contacts and support systems in place with their
friends and family, say in Thompson, and all of a
sudden they are told: To continue and finish your
engineering program, you have to move to
Winnipeg.

I think thatis adrastic mistake for the government
to be making. Also, if you look at how many people
are in those communities and in those training
programs;, and how much are the communities
benefiting from families renting homes, buying their
groceries, using movie theatres and attending
hockey games? That is bringing money into the
economy of those northern communities. They
have been drastically hit, seriously. In the past we
had cuts from Northern Affairs and we have cuts
from other government agencies—Department of
Highways.

Those few jobs or the money thatis coming into
those pockets that are spent in those communities
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mean a lot. Getting back to the whole issue of
Manitoba Hydro and Conawapa; | do not know why
the government cannot come out and say, look—or
take it back to the Public Utitilities Board. For them
to say, look, it makes financial, economic sense and
that is why we should go ahead with it.

Even if it means that the only reason for building
Conawapa today is to export power for sale. Even
if they would come out and say that: to export power
for sale, buthow can you export power for sale when
the agency that was out there negotiating and
finding contracts for Manitoba Hydro has
been—poof—disbanded? It no longer exists.
Manitoba Energy Authority was the key player and
was put in place to find markets for Manitoba Hydro,
for consumption. Where is all that expertise today?

They are no longer there. Who is out there
negotiating and seeking contracts for this
government? [interjection] Well, it might cost you
$400,000 a year, but if you get a sale that will bring
you a good return and generate revenues for all
citizens of Manitoba, | do not think there is anything
wrong with that.

| hear a lot of people say, to make money you
have got to spend money. You do not get rid of a
whole agency that is out there doing a job for the
government and then say sure, we have a contract
with the Ontario government right now, but what do
you do with that other 300 megawatie that is going
to be sitting there? Because we in
Manitoba—Manitoba Hydro stated, even a former
Minister of Energy even questions, do we need that
power in 1999 or the year 2000 for the consumers
of Manitoba?

I do not think so. Thatis whatpeople are saying,
but we do not really know, do we? Nobody knows
for sure. Everybody is guessing. | mentioned
earlier, you hear all kinds of different numbers
thrown at us, but nobody knows for sure. So let us
find out what those real numbers are. Let us find
out how much energy we are going to be saving with
our conservation measures and conservation
programs that we have in place right now.

Even Ontario right now is utilizing conservation
measures. How much are they going to be saving?
Do they need that whole 1,000 megawatts? | bet
you they could not even tell you that. They do not
know that. Nobody knows how much. They do not
know how much they are going to need or how much
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they are going to save. The Minister of Health (Mr.
Orchard) says, how much? We do not know.

Last year in Estimates, when we brought that
amendment to state that Manitoba Hydro target &
percent conservation, we were almost laughed out
of that committee room. They said, what do you
mean 6 percent? Thatis pretty high. That is really
high. The members who were part of that
committee will remember that very clearly. They
said, you are way off your rocker—6 percent. Now,
| bet you if you went back and asked these experts,
| bet you they will even tell you 10 percent is not out
of the question. Itis not out of the question.

lf we even went at conservation in a stronger
measure than what we have today, who knows how
high we can get it—15 percent, 20 percent—we do
not know. How many government buildings are
there in Manitoba? | am sure that there are quite a
few—hospitals, schools—that government pours
money into. If the government took the initiative,
even one small step, to replace all the light bulbs in
all government buildings or government-supported
buildings, it would cost us a pile of money initially.
it wouldcostus alotof money. Whenyou talk about
one light bulb you are looking at probably about $1,
oh, | do not know, could be a $1.50 compared to
20-some dollars for—f[interjection] Yes, | guess
maybe $2 with GST. | do not know who brought in
GST, but it is there now. | am not sure what party.
it was the federal Conservatives. They have no ties
with the provincial. | found that out the last election.

If you replaced all those light bulbs with
energy-efficient light bulbs, sure it will cost you a lot
of money up front. Eventually, through the years,
how much are you saving? You would save quite a
bit—quite a bit.

* (2050)

How much is Conawapa costing us? Thirteen
bilion dollars. Even what it is, that would be a lot
cheaper measure than to build future dams. 1donot
have a problem with Conawapa. | was bom and
raised—

An Honourable Member: Are you for it or against
it, which way? Just tell us.

Mr. Hickes: Doit right. Whatwe are saying is, do
it right.

An Honourable Member: Are you for it, George?
.. . you are getting pretty sore on that fence.
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Mr. Hickes: No, no, | am not sitting on a fence
anywhere. Ifthe government would follow the rules
and regulations that were put out, and we have the
Public Utilities Board there to make sure that the
economics outweigh, that economics are for the
profit of Manitoba—

An Honourable Member: You ignore that, eh?
Mr. Hickes: What is that? |did not hear you.

What we say with Conawapa is, do it right. That
is all that we are saying is, do it right.

| will speak for myself right now, that| would much
prefer to see the building of Conawapa or a dam
then | would see where our neighbouring provinces
would have to build nuclear power plants. | do not
believe in that. | do not want a thing to do with that.
| have read about it. | have seen some of the
negatives thathappened in Russia, and | personally
would not want to be in the middle of two provinces
and surrounded by nuclear reactors. |do not think
that is the way to go, because we all know that
hydro—{interjection] No, | do not believe in nuclear
power. We all know that dams are a lot cleaner
supply—{interjection] Well, to be honest with you, |
am totally for it, but do it right. That is ali | say. |
talked about the aboriginal people training and
northerners for training programs? Where is that?
| have not heard a thing about that. Where is it?

An Honourable Member: Waell, they do not know
how to vote, George.

Mr.Hickes: Waell, |am notgoing to getintothatkind
of debate because | am trying to be very serious
here. [interjection] No,because | amvery concemed
because the North and Manitobans right now, we
need jobs. We all know that, but you do notsacrifice
the proper processes that are in place just to create
jobs for the needs right now. We need to hear about
the training programs. We need to hear that
Northern preferential hiring clauses will be
enforced—

Hon. Donald Orchard (Minister of Health):
Should we not give them an environmental licence
first, George? Are you not a little ahead of things?

Mr. Hickes: | am talking about the whole idea.
Environment, well, | have already mentioned that.

Mr. Orchard: Why do you want a training program
for a dam you are against? Make up your mind.

Mr. Hickes: Well, if the Minister of Health (Mr.
Orchard) would sit and listen, | have mentioned the
environment and that gives me an opportunity.
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Maybe | will remind you again thatin 1987 it was the
NDP that put The Environment Act in. It was under
1988—([interjection] No, it was shortly after
Limestone. [interjection)]

We learn as we progress. Who says
today—okay, like if you want to go back one year,
what would your government and Manitoba Hydro
say? We need Conawapa. We need to start it in
1993, because we need that power in the year 2000.
Ask the same people today. Thatis only one year
later. Ask the same individuals. What are they
going to tell you?

An Honourable Member: We are going to ask
them next year.

Mr. Hickes: Oh, no, ask them. Phone them up
tomorrow and ask them. They will tell
you—{Interjection] Of course it is going to change
next year.

An Honourable Member: Well, there you go.

Mr. Hickes: Thatis the point | am making. Thatis
the point | am making.

An Honourable Member: Waell, there you are.
You have made my point.

Mr. Hickes: You have made my point for me very
well, thank you. When Limestone was built there
was no environment act in place, and the NDP
recognized that. All throughout the years past,
under Conservative governments, under NDP
governments—no, | do notthink there was aLiberal
government—

An Honourable Member: No, there has not been.
Mr. Hickes: No, | do not think so.

An Honourable Member: There has not been for
a while.

Mr. Hickes: So under the NDP, even under
Conservatives, nobody realized we should have an
environmental act in place. It was the NDP
government that recognized thatin 1987, andit was
proclaimed in 1988.

An Honourable Member: After the fact, in other
words.

Mr. Hickes: What is after the fact? What is after
the fact? There were dams built in the '50s and
'60s, and there will be dams built in the year 2000
and something. So how can you say, after the fact?
How can that be after the fact? How can that be
after the fact? When you recognize something that
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is good for the people of Manitoba and you putitinto
an act and you proclaim it, yes, that is right.

For a small example, | will give you what is right
and what is wrong. | will give you a good example.
Anti-sniff bill, which is very important to the citizens
in Point Douglas—

An Honourable Member: That s getting a little bit
off.

Mr. Hickes: No, no. | am tying the relevance to
bringing in an act and proclaiming an act. So itis
very, very relevant.

So the anti-sniff bill was brought in over twoyears
ago.
An Honourable Member: Where is it now?
Mr. Hickes: It has passed.

Are you going towaittill someone dies before you
proclaim it? Sure it is—

An Honourable Member: What does hydro smell
like, George?

Mr. Hickes: You cannotsmell it becauseitis very,
very clean. Thatis why | much prefer it over nu—

An Honourable Member: That is why you are not
in favour of nukies.

Mr. Hickes: Oh, no. | support—
An Honourable Member: Nukies?

Mr. Hickes: Oh, no. |supportthe development of
dams any day. You can ask the Minister of Northem
Affairs (Mr. Downey) who | know has been up north,
and | know he has a lot of contacts within the
aboriginal community. | saw that for myself. He
has a lot of respect from those people. So do not
sell him short.

When we talk about Conawapa—{interjection]
No, no. | am being very, very serious about this
here. When we talkk about the development of
Conawapa, | do not know how many of you have
been up north and have gone down that river.

An Honourable Member: | have.

Mr. Hickes: You have? Now, the ones that have
been there, tell your colleagues how high those
banks are. They are very high, and there will be
very, very little flooding to do with Conawapa.

An Honourable Member: So you are in favour of
it now.

Mr. Hickes: | always have been from Day One. |
have never been against it. All | say isdo itright. It
has very, very high banks and there will be only a
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small area that will have any flooding in that. If you
look at that area, | am not sure exactly how many
acres it is. [interjection] If that. | think it is about 5
acres, but if you look at where that will take place,
there are no communities there, | think, thatis going
toaffect. If youlook atthe alternative to Conawapa,
then that is where | would say look at it very, very
closely.

An Honourable Member: Which one is the
alternative?

Mr. Hickes: The alternative is on the
Nelson-Burntwood River—[Interjection] Yes,
Wouskwatim. There is going to be a lot of damage
in there if—well, | do not know how you could do it,
but if you start damming that one—because it is an
untapped river and the flooding that you are going
to see is going to affect Thompson and the
community of Nelson House. Then—{interjection]
Wall, you raise the level and spread it out.

An Honourable Member: Is that what you wantto
do, George?

Mr. Hickes: No.

An Honourable Member: What do you want to
do? How do you think it could be done? Tell us.
You said do it the right way. Whatis the right way?

Mr. Hickes: What | am saying to do Conawapa, is
the process that was in place. It is outdated
information thatwe in this Chamber are dealing with
right now, even Manitoba Hydro.

An Honourable Member: They had no policy
when they did Limestone.

Mr. Hickes: | would not say we had no policy.
[interjection] There was not an environmental
impactinplace. Itwasthe NDP thatrecognized that
and made sure thatthere was the Environmental Act
put into place. Sure.

* (2100)

An Honourable Member: There was an
environmental assessment.

Mr. Hickes: What is that?

An Honourable Member: There was an
environmental assessment.

Mr. Hickes: There was?
An Honourable Member: Hydro did it.
Madam Deputy Speaker: Order, please.

Mr. Hickes: If you look at the past under the
Conservative government, they were going to raise
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the water level for flooding, for South Indian Lake,
30 feet. Thirty feetl Not even an
environmental—you know everybody says there
was no environmental impact study on Limestone.
Manitoba Hydro did do an environmental impact
study. You ask Manitoba Hydro. There was
[interjection] yes.

If you look at South Indian Lake, imagine the
damage that would have happened if you would
have gone with your plan to raise it 30 feet. To 30
feet!

An Honourable Member: Are we ready to start
Conawapa this year?

Mr. Hickes: Waell, if you would have had the
environmental impact hearings and kept the
committee in place to hear the people’s concerns
and you had gone through the environmental impact
study, then you might have had a shot at starting it
in 1993.

An Honourable Member: Are you going to go to
those commissions and speak in favour of it, and
say the truth?

Mr. Hickes: Look, we have our chances to debate
in here.

Whenit gets out, letthe public have their say and
give them the proper funding. Do not limit their
fundingto, say, $1,000 a group or whatever like that.
Let the proper people—and | urge the Minister of
Environment (Mr. Cummings) and the Minister of
Energy and Mines (Mr. Downey) to seriously, when
they allocate dollars, to puttogether a proper—what
do you call that Jerry, when you go to the committee
hearing?

When you allocate the dollars, to make sure that
some of those aboriginal communities which are
wanting to go to the hearings to give presentations,
to adequately give them the funding to do that,
because a lot of those people and those
communities—

An Honourable Member: There is not going to be
any damage and you are going to give up millions
of dollars now. Millions, right? No limit, right,
George? No limit?

Mr. Hickes: | think the member does not know
what he talks about.
An Honourable Member: Unlimited funding,
George.

Mr. Hickes: | think if the member used any
common sense at all, you would know that the first
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people that are going to be affected by any damage
that those communities will encounter will be the
aboriginal communities that go on the east or the
west. If you knew what you were talking about you
would know that a lot of those environmental
assessment hearings are going to involve Bipole lIl.
Those are the communities and those are the
people that should have a right to be heard. They
should be—{interjection] No, no. Do not get carried
away.

This issue here is too important for me, as an
aboriginal, and as a former northemer, to get into a
debate with the member. It is too important of an
issue. When we talk about environmental impact
hearings and the proper funding for those, |
encourages, | really, really encourage both ministers
to adequately address and support monetarily the
aboriginal people, to give a proper assessment on
their own behalf, so when they go into negotiations
with the government they will know how much
damage was caused. We do not know how much
damage that will cause because you are going to
hear from individuals, you are going to hear from
boards, you are going to hear from tribal councils.

Even today as | talk about this bill, there are
aboriginal people and organizations right now who
are meeting about the Bipole lll and the building of
Conawapa. How can that benefit us and our
communities?

We know, and the minister knows, a lot of these
projects are for say eight or nine years, but what
happens after? What is left in those communities
after the construction is over? Thatis where alot of
these communities and aboriginal people will be
telling the minister that we want to be able to
participate after. We want training programs to get
adequate careers for our people.

If you look at Manitoba Hydro—and | encourage
any member in this House to go to their big building
on Taylor Avenue and take a walk through that
building and tell me how many aboriginal people
work in that building—where does Manitoba Hydro
get their resources from? s it from the South? No,
itis from northern Manitoba. [f there is any damage
in the past, who does it affect? It affects northern
Manitobans. Who makes up the most population of
northern Manitoba? It is aboriginal individuals. If
you go look at the building of Manitoba Hydro, how
many aboriginal people do you see working there?
Very, very few.
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If you look at the Manitoba board, how many
aboriginal people are on that board? | have not
heard of one, not one.

| think those are the kind of things that this
government is going to be hearing from aboriginal
people and aboriginal leaders in the future, because
| think it is high time. We can talk about yesterday
all we want, but | do not want to live in the past, and
the aboriginal people whom | have spoken to do not
want to live in the past any more. They said, we
want to worry about what is in the future for
aboriginal people who we as aboriginal leaders
represent.

| had some good conversations this weekend with
aboriginal leaders. | heard a lot. They made me
listen, and thatwasgreat. Iwasgladtolisten. They
said, today is today, yesterday was yesterday. Now
we live for today, and we live for the future.

When we are all gone, our children, are they going
to say the same thing that | am standing here today
saying, that Manitoba Hydro takes their resources
from the North, and there is nothing or very little left
for aboriginal people. Even linemen jobs, most of
those jobs are in the North.

We took a little tour with the former Minister of
Energy, who | thank for taking us up there, took the
former critic for the Liberals and myself.

An Honourable Member: Where is he now?
Mr. Hickes: Who is that?
An Honourable Member: The Liberal critic?

Mr. Hickes: He is writing in the paper; he is a
journalist. He tookus up there. We had a tour of all
the hydro stations and stuff. There were very few
aboriginal people there, and yet it is right in Gillam.
We have a reserve right—well, it is only a stone’s
throw away from the site. There are a lot of good
people there. You know, there is nothing to it, but
the whole adequate training to make sure that
people get adequate careers. You know, it has to
start some day.

Even as we talk today, | lived in Sundance, and |
worked on the last site as an employment
counsellor. |hadtodeal with alotofthe people who
were employed at that site. It is amazing how we
have this preferential clause thatl mentioned earfier.
We have aboriginal first, northerners second, and
yet, today, as | am speaking, | am still getting calls
from people who are complaining about the hiring
processes that are happening in Limestone as of
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today, and yet those preferential hiring clauses are
in there. Let us enforce them; make it
fair—{interjection)

An Honourable Member: But you know what
happened the first year during the building of
Limestone, the NDP brought in union workers from
B.C. Thatis when they came. They established a
Winnipeg residence and got hired on. They were
not Manitobans; they were unionists from other
provinces.

Mr. Hickes: They hadto be. The first clause was
northern aboriginal people; the second clause was
northemers. Then you had union members brought
in. There was no way thata union member from the
south should be replacing a northern aboriginal
person, because it is supposed to be the first hiring
clause in that contract, and yet, today, the catering
company is circumventing that system. | do not
know how it is being done, but | hope somebody will
lookintoit. | have had some calls from people that
Ihad contactwith in my last job, and they are saying,
well, what can we do? | say, well, who is your
minister? | encourage them to give the minister a
call, because | am sure that he is a fair person.

* (2110)

A lot of times, those messages do not get to the
minister. It might be worthwhile when the minister
takes a little tour of his new responsibilities, to have
a look and check out and see what is happening,
and if there are any wrongs, correct them. If there
are not, fine. A lot of times, you hear people
complain, but if you dig further into the
circumstances, maybe there is not that much
groundfor it.

Some of the individualsthatcontacted me, | know
have the qualifications to work there. A lot of them
have worked there in the past, and yet they were
laid off and not recalled, and then yet other people
were hired over and above. Maybe, it is because
the project is sort of winding down, so people are
kind of slacking off the rules, but | do not think that
should happen. You have rules and regulations like
we do here, anywhere else; they are there for us to
follow. | think that we should try and follow them.

| would like to re-emphasize the importance of
training for northern people. When you have a
project the size of Conawapa—what was
Conawapa going to take? | think it was about nine
years. | think it is about a nine-year project, and a
seasonal project for a lot of the trades people. A lot
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of the people who work, say, six months out of the
year will be recalled again. If you look at that nine
months and looked at your carpenters or your
electricians, the trades areas—

Madam Deputy Speaker: Order, please. The
honourable member’s time has expired.

Is there leave to allow the member an additional
two minutes? Leave.

Mr. Hickes: If we could utilize that project for the
nine-year duration to try and get more aboriginals
their papers in carpentry and electrical and stuff
because when the communities start getting higher
amperage power, then they will have to rewire the
houses and everything else and the communities
will benefit greatly from them. | encourage the
government to follow through on that and | hope it
happens.

Thank you, Madam Deputy Speaker.

Mr. Jerry Storle (Flin Flon): | move, seconded by
the member for Point Douglas (Mr. Hickes), that
debate be adjourned.

Madam Deputy Speaker: It has been moved by
the honourable member for Flin Flon (Mr. Storie),
seconded by the honourable member for Point
Douglas (Mr. Hickes), thatdebate be adjoumed.

Mr. Steve Ashton (Thompson): Yes, | was
wondering if | might have leave to speak on this bill
and allow it to remain standing in the name for the
member for Flin Flon (Mr. Storie)?

Madam Deputy Speaker: Is there leave to allow
the honourable member for Thompson (Mr. Ashton)
to speak to the bill, but at the same time allow the
billto remain standing in the honourable member for
Flin Flon’'s name?

Some Honourable Members: Leave.
Madam Deputy Speaker: Leave.

Mr. Ashton: Madam Deputy Speaker, | appreciate
the accommodation from members across the way,
actually for the member for Flin Flon (Mr. Storie) in
particular, who did have to leave.

An Honourable Member: You do not have that
same accommodation when it comes from this side.

Mr. Ashton: Indeed, | think if the member for
Portage (Mr. Connery) would reflect on some other
events that have taken place today, | think he will
have seen that a proper discussion has taken place
and the right spirit is there, that members of this
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House can be accommodating on a wide variety of
issues, but | digress, Madam Deputy Speaker.

What | did want to talk about tonight were a
number of hydro-electric related matters and
specific current concerns. | realize when one is
looking at a bill that is—in a similar vein actually to
some of the points raised by the member for Point
Douglas (Mr. Hickes), because there are a number
of issues that are of concern to people in the North
related to Hydro, and | want to use this opportunity
since this is a bill that does affect Hydro. | realize it
could be argued whether it affects us directly or not,
but | did want to raise them.

In fact, this follows from discussions | had as
recently as last Friday. | was in one of the
committees that was affected most directly by
flooding, York Landing was another community,
liford, which indeed has had a strong connection in
terms of Hydro over the years. | was in Split Lake
aswaell, so three northern communities, two of which
are northern flood communities. |wanted to raise a
number of concerns, because there are some
broader issues that are being raised in terms of
Hydro policy, and certainly | think the member for
Point Douglas (Mr. Hickes) covered them quite well.

As everyone is obviously aware, the next step we
are waiting for in terms of Conawapa is obviously
the environmental assessment. We also feel that
there has to be the inclusion of settlement on the
Northern Flood Agreement. | really believe the
minister responsible for Northern Affairs (Mr.
Downey). | am not sure if he is in a position really
to say that is a policy of the government, but | am
sure he would personally very much like to see that
happen, a settlement of Northern Flood Agreement
prior to any further developments in terms of Hydro.
It is a very major symbolic matter for many northern
communities, the five northern communities, three
of which | have the privilege of representing in the
Manitoba Legislature.

Iwantto express the particular concerns because
this has been going on since 1977. The flood
agreement was signed at that time, and | am not
trying to blame one patrticular stripe of government
or another particular stripe of government or,
indeed, governments per se, because it is an
agreement which involves the provincial
government, the federal government, Manitoba
Hydro and the signatory bands.
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|am nottrying atthis point to lay blame, and | think
if one was to look at it over the last number of years,
what has happened with the Northern Flood
Agreement, there has been very much a shift at
different times in terms of who has been delaying
what.

Most recently, the clear feedback from the
northern communities involved has been that there
were real problems with the federal government. |
am sure the minister is aware of the particular
concerns that had developed with the number of
consultants who were acting on behalf of the federal
government in terms of northern flood negotiations.
Mostrecently, that has been the case.

| think, generally, there has to be an acceptance
by all of us that it has gone on too long, and also,
perhaps, to go one step further and recognize that
many of the original concerns expressed by the
aboriginal people may perhaps be more appropriate
today, or recognized as being appropriate, than they
were when the matters were originally raised.

One of the major concerns, in particular, is the
extinguishment-of-rights argumentthatmanybands
have concemns about. They, indeed, are asking the
question as to whether any settlement will be a final
settlement, or whether, if there are further damages
as a result of the flooding, matters that ar>
unforeseen at this time, whether they will be able to
have some recourse through the Northern Flood
Agreement.

Thatis important, because if you look atwhat has
happened in Quebec, just look at what has
happened there with the James Bay Cree, with a
land claims settlement thatwas signed inthe 1970s.
Woe are now seeing in the Constitutional debate the
leader of the Parti Québécois, the leader of the
separatists, saying that because they signed this
agreement, not only have they given up certain
rights in regards to land, but somehow they have
signed away any ability to use the argument they
have the right to self-determination in the northern
two-thirds of Quebec if Quebec were to separate. |
saythatbecauseitis a parallel to the concemn of the
aboriginal groups in Manitoba, the aboriginal
communities, the five communities, because they
are looking at that now. They are saying, well, if
Quebec can be using this argument in a land claim
settlementthatwas somewhatrelated, obviously, to
Hydroin a different context, they are afraid the same
concern could be expressed here, certainly in the
limited area of the damage from the flooding.
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|wantto say, Madam Deputy Speaker, the bottom
line is very clear, whether it be in Split Lake, which
has indicated that it is willing to go as an individual
band and settle, or whether itis the case of the other
four northemn flood communities. They feel very
clearly that there has to be a settlement, that the
wrongs of previous generations have to be righted.
Indeed, | am hoping that will take place. | would
strongly urge the ministerto do that, to meet with the
chiefs. | know they have been trying to arrange a
meeting. | really believe it is important. | met, as |
said, last week in one of the communities, with the
chief in that particular community. They want their
concerns dealt with. | believe there is an historic
opportunity here to settle that. [f ittakes the factthat
Limestone is next in terms of sequential
development, in terms of Hydro, then let us use it.
Let us seize it as an historic opportunity to right that
wrong, because the history of hydro development in
northern Manitoba, indeed, is one in which you see
many mixed emotions for many aboriginal people.

In development after development, we have
seen—firstgoing back inthe late '60s and early '70s,
in the further northern part of the province, in which
| have the greatest experience, and live in, and it
certainly was the case in Grand Rapids, but there
was a great degree of flooding. That was not the
case with the Limestone dam, but there still was not
the settlement of claims that went from the previous
dams. | think it would be a real travesty if we saw
the development of Conawapa without the
settlement of the Northemn Flood Agreement.

* (2120)

| believe, after 10 or 15 years, the minister, | am
sure, will recognize that for aboriginal people there
is a different sense of time. For aboriginal people,
10 or 15 years is not a long period of time to wait to
have their rights fully recognized. Another five or 10
years, another 15 years—many of the flood
communities have indicated that to me. They will
wait as long as it takes until they achieve a
settlement that they believe is fair.

| do believe that they also recognize, when they
look at the situation facing young people in the
communities, when they look at the continuing
deteriorationin termsofthe trapping industry in their
communities as a result of the flooding, of fishing
that is still ongoing, the bottom line is, even though
there is that different sense of time, | believe there
is every degree of urgency in settling the Northern
Flood Agreement. That is one of the key factors, |
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believe, thathasto go into any further development
in terms of Hydro.

There has been a lot of discussion back and forth
tonight about Hydro policy. Madam Deputy
Speaker, you will have to forgive me if | find it
somewhat ironic in looking at what has been
happening in the debate, because | remember
previous debates on Hydro. | remember the
minister, himself, who is very good from his seat in
throwing questions and comments across the floor,
some of the statements that he and his colleagues
made in the mid-1980s.

At that time there were very clear positions, the
New Democratic Party obviously had reached an
agreement with Northern States Power, moved
ahead in terms ofthe development of the Limestone
station. The Liberals were against it; they called it
lemonstone. They have not changed their tune on
Conawapa either. They may come up with some
less graphic description, but let us look at that for
just a sec. | think it bears looking into, the Liberal
position, because now they are trying to set
themselves up on Conawapa with very much the
same sort of a one-dimensional approach.

They said, and | remember this because the
Leader of the Liberal Party came to Thompson, |
believe it was in 1986, and said that Limestone
would cost $5 billion by the time it was completed,
because it had been projected to cost $3 billion and
eventually it would cost $5 billion. Well, | have the
quote in the Thompson Citizen, where she stated
very clearly it would cost—and | realize this may
come as a shock to the member for Inkster (Mr.
Lamoureux)—she said it was going to cost $5
billion.

Now, what happened? Did it cost the $3 billion
that it was projected to cost? Did it cost 2.5? Did it
costtwo? Well, actually it cost 1.5, 1.6, depending
on the final estimates. Obviously, there are still
factors coming in. It cost merely a third of whatthe
Liberal Leader (Mrs. Carstairs) had said it would
cost in Thompson in 1986. So much for Liberal
arithmetic; so much for Liberal Hydro policy.

| also remember the position of the Conservative
Party in those days. | remember it because the
member for Lakeside (Mr. Enns}—whom we know
sowaell for his frank comments, he is a very forthright
individual—supported by the current Premier (Mr.
Filmon) at this time, had a position on Limestone
and Hydro development. Their position was that
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instead of developing Limestone, we should
purchase fixed power from outof the province.

An Honourable Member: No. Who said that?

Mr. Ashton: The Premier and the then Energy
critic, the member for Lakeside. Now, that was the
position of the Conservative Party at that time. Not
necessarily call Limestone “lemonstone,” but hardly
a position that made much economic sense at the
time, and there was some theoretical logic to it.

They were arguing that if you purchase power
from outside of the province, you would not then
need to develop Limestone as quickly, but look at
what they would have had happen. If there had
been a Conservative government elected in 1986,
there probably would be no Limestone or at least
would not have beenfora numberofyears after that.
We would now be buying power from the States; we
would be buying power from Ontario or from
Saskatchewan. We probably would have gone out
and bought power from nuclear plants if it was
available according to that theory because thatwas
the logic of it. That is where we would be in 1992,
if we had followed in terms of the Conservative logic,
in terms of Hydro development.

What happened following the development in
terms of Limestone? Waell, lindicated the costfactor
was far lower than anyone had even estimated to
begin with. In fact, the best part about the decision
of the New Democratic Party government in the
1980s in terms of Hydro was the timing. It came at
the end of the lastrecession; it came at a time when
contractors were generally very hungry in terms of
prices, and that is one of the reasons why it came
in at such a low price in terms of that. In terms of
the 1980s, | think that has to be put into perspective
before some of these comments have to be taken
any further.

The argument has been made, indeed, that there
were no environmental assessments made of
Limestone—that is not true. What the argument
should be, if the minister was to put it forward, which
| do not believe he did at the time, but in retrospect
of hindsight, that there was no independent
environmental review process that we have
currently in The Environment Act and, indeed, that
is quite accurate.

| believe that the decision of the New Democratic
Party government in 1987, which | believe was
supported by all parties in the House at the time, to
establish the need for an independent
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environmental assessment was the appropriate
decision. Itwas living up to the changing times and
the changing realization out there of just how
serious potential environmental consequences
could be. In fact, if one looked at previous dams
which were often expedited for economic reasons
solely, without concem for the environment, one
might have had different decisions made, not only
as to whether there would be dams built, but which
dams were built and in which sequence. That was
placed in 1987, as a new factor, which | believe
reflects the current reality.

| want to address that for a second to see where
we should be going in terms of Hydro policy. |want
to use the two sequences thatwe are currently faced
with in terms of the environment, the economics,
various items. There are really currently three
choices in terms of Hydro development: tohave no
Hydro development at all and to either look at
reduced load growth which may or may not be the
case or conservation or possibly, | suppose,
purchasing other power, but | do not think that is
being seriously looked atby anyone. Sothere is the
option of no development, period.

The otheroptions currently, in terms of Manitoba,
really, seriously, have been Conawapa and
Wuskwatim. Now, in terms of preliminary
environmental assessments, not independent, but
in terms of preliminary environmental assessments,
the member for Point Douglas (Mr. Hickes) is
absolutely correct. The assessments in terms of
the impact on flooding are that there will be very
limited flooding on Conawapa because of the banks,
because it is just a dam that is further downstream.

The bottom line is there would not be the same
sort of impacts that took place, not on Limestone,
because Limestone itself also did not lead to
significant impact that way, but in terms of other
areas. There are other environmental factors that
obviously an independent assessment will look at.
Concern has been expressed about the impact on
the river itself, the Nelson River and also Hudson
Bay. We have realized in recent years the fact is
that you cannot always judge from appearances
whether there is a major environmental impact or
not.

There is also the environmental impact of the
Bipole lll, in terms of the impact to the east side of
Lake Winnipeg, which has to be considered. That
is going to be considered in the context of The
Environment Act and the independent



February 24, 1992

environmental assessment, Madam Deputy
Speaker.

Now, is anyone on the Conservative side
suggesting thatwe should ignore the environmental
impact study inadvance, regardless of what it says?
| do not believe they are, and | know the Minister of
Northern Affairs (Mr. Downey) suggests that is not
the case. Indeed, that is what the New Democratic
Party said: We have to have a fair and open
environmental assessment. That is what we said
we would do in 1987, and we have to pay attention
to whatever the restults are.

I know in jest the member for Lakeside (Mr. Enns)
the other day suggested ramming things through
and building ittwice as fast. Thatwas the approach
of the 1960s and perhaps in the 1970s as well. It
certainly was the approach of the Roblin
government, and probably the approach of the
Schreyer government in the early stages as well,
whether one argues and indeed | will argue about
the politics of the '60s in terms of high level flooding
andlowlevel flooding andwhatstageitwasat. That
is a debate that | think is more for historical purposes
than anything else, but it shows what the mentality
was at the time and how different things are today.

* (2130)

In the 1960s it was unheard of for people to say
thatthere will be major impacts on the environment,
on the aboriginal people. ltwas a cause celebre. It
was not really something that was mainstream.
Today Ithinkthatall Manitobans want to ensure that
whatever development takes place in terms of
hydro, it meets the conditions of an independent
environmental assessment. Is there any
disagreement on that in this House? | do not
believe the Liberals would disagree with that, even
if they are ruling out the development of Conawapa
as they did on Limestone, if they accept that their
positionis now being adopted, obviously they would
accept—and | know they have argued that the
environmental assessment should be in place.

So we are dealing here, running through again
what we have to deal with in terms of making any
decisions in terms of hydro development. What is
the next fundamental condition that has to be met?
That there be the demand for Conawapa, whether
it be in terms of the export power agreement, and
once again, the NDP have been involved in the
preliminary negotiations, in fact some significant
negotiations—I know that for a fact; | was on the
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Hydro board—and the Conservative government
continued them. That agreement was signed with
the previous Liberal government, but once again
thatis added onto the domestic demand, and | think
the legitimate question has to be raised, given the
recession, what the current domestic demand is. |
think this factor, and this is where | disagree
fundamentally with the Liberals, is the question
comes down to more when Conawapais built rather
than if Conawapai is built.

An Honourable Member: That is what we would
say.

Mr. Ashton: Well, no, the Liberals have said, do
not build Limestone, do not build Conawapa. If we
listened to the Liberals we would not have enough
power to generate Manitoba’s industries and homes
if we had followed the choice of 1986, or else we
would be importing it now, God knows from where,
because thereis not anexcess capacity inthis area.

That s the problem. The Liberals have an ostrich
approach, putting your head in the sand and saying,
no, we are against this, we are against this. That
does not wash, and has not washed since the
1980s. Theywere provenwrong on Limestone, and
| believe they are missing the point in terms of this
as waell.

There is one other factor | want to mention,
Madam Deputy Speaker, interms of demandfactors
as well. That is conservation, because
conservation in many ways mirrors the whole
debate on the environment, because there has
always been a mandate for ManitobaHydro and the
provincial government to encourage conservation.
The Liberals are wrongto suggestthathasnot been
the case. That has always been the mandate,
becauseManitobaHydrois both a utility that serves
its customers and is also a utility owned by the
public, so it is logical to have a conservation
mandate.

The question has been in terms of the degree to
which conservation has been a significant part of
energy decisions. | would suggest in recent years
there has been a growth in terms, not only of the
concern, but also the type of technology that is
available and the type of examples available from
other jurisdictions, the United States being an
obvious example where conservation is becoming
a prime mechanism to conserve power, essentially
to find a substitute for new power. That is
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particularly driven in those jurisdictions by
environmental concerns.

It is somewhat different in the United States
because they have a different mix of power. Their
financial situation is different, their environmental
situationis different. If you are talking about a utility
which burns fossil fuels, and you can
conserve—obviously you prevent the burning of
fossil fuels, there is an immediate impact on the
environment. It has a different economic
circumstance. You cannot apply those examples
directly to a utility which relies, by and large, on
hydro power—not totally, there are some fossil fuel
plants in that sense, but the bottom line is that this
is a hydro-electric utility. Here the basic questions
come down to the environmental impact of the
dams, but also on the economic side, there are the
questions of the financing of the construction, the
timing, the sales, et cetera.

So those are a mix of factors that any government
hastolook atinterms of making decisions. |believe
that in that particular circumstance, once again, itis
not a question to my mind, currently under the
knowledge base that we have now, of if Conawapa
should be built, but when. Unless there is
something that we do not know about the
seriousness in terms of the environment, or indeed
if there is not a major slowdown in terms of domestic
demand in this province that makes the economics
of the hydro sale, per se, in and as of itself, not
sufficient to start Conawapa—that is why | am
surprised in a way that the government is being so
defensive on a number of suggestions. Referring
Conawapa to the round table, | do not think that is
something the government necessarily has to worry
about in any particular way, shape or form.

Other items | mentioned, selling the Northern
Flood Agreement. | believe there is an honest
attempt that exists among the parties right now to
do so, but there has to be a push given to it, a
recognition thatthat has to be a precondition for the
further development of hydro. | believe that is the
only moral if not legal precept that one can look at
in terms of flooding.

| mentioned before in terms of the various
economic factors again—and once again, we are
not going to build Conawapa if it is not necessary,
but if it is necessary in terms of the demand, even if
we accept the 10 percent conservation figures, if we
cannot achieve that or if that is not sufficient, there
is still low growth, et cetera. Those factors, | do not

February 24, 1992

think in any way, shape or form lead to some of the
exchanges that have taken place across the House.

The New Democratic Party is notthe ostrich in the
sand of the Liberal Party on hydro policy, but the
bottom line is, we recognize the number of factors
that are involved, and | actually would be interested
to see which one of those factors the Conservatives
would say we should ignore, come hell or high
water. Which ones, which ones? Settlement of the
Native land claims, in terms of the Northern Flood
Agreement? The question of the environmental
review? Should we say, who cares about the
environmental review? Should we say
conservation? Well, yes, we are encouraging
conservation; indeed, the Conservative Hydro
board, the Conservative governmentis encouraging
conservation. Ifitleadstoreduced demand growth,
will we then turn around and still build Conawapa
anyway?

The recession has taken a huge toll in terms of
the demand for power. Is the Conservative
governmentthengoingtoturnaround andsay, well,
we will build itanyway? | run through the entire list.
The bottom line is they know that is not the case.
They know that those are legitimate precepts in
terms of Hydro development, and they also, | think,
should recognize that some of the rhetoric that has
taken place in this Chamber in the last little while
ignores the reality of what is going on out there.

Iwantto go one step further and point out just how
immediate that is, because | point to what the
member for Point Douglas (Mr. Hickes) referred to
earlier, in terms of hiring. One of the problems that
has been in existence with Hydro development for
the last 25 or 30 years in northern Manitoba has
been that, despite all the best intentions, you never
get the right degree of northern and Native
involvement. It has improved significantly, and | will
argue with anyone in terms of Limestone, because
| believe that the training thattook place there, while
far from perfect, did increase the participation by a
significant degree.

Some of the changes thatwere put in place in the
collective agreement had a major impact, but | say,
Madam Deputy Speaker, to the minister that | am
very concerned, and | do not blame him for this
because he was not the minister responsible. | am
concerned that the Nelson-Burntwood Agreement
was agreedto, the renewal took place with no notice
to northerners, no consultation with northerners and
aboriginal groups, no attempt to learn from the
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experience—as we have done for the last 25 years,
recognize it never worked the way it should, but if
you work harder, the next time itwould get better. |
am concerned about that.

| am also concemed with what is happening in
terms of training in terms of the Hydro situation,
because the Limestone training authority, once
again | will argue with anyone in terms of its efficacy.
| believe it was an excellent attempt to improve
training for aboriginal northemers and northemers
generally, and the bottom line again is through
cutbacks and changes in the structure of the
Department of Education that has been wiped out,
Madam Deputy Speaker.

These are not just abstract concerns. | would
hope to be able to make the minister aware that
these are ongoing concemns. | have received more
calls the last two months on hiring at Limestone
currently at the campsite, particularly in regards to
the caterers, than | have in the previous two or three
years. | am not again blaming this on the
government. | know that when we were in
government, the same process used to take place,
not like the member for Portage (Mr. Connery) was
suggesting. He does not know the way the
Nelson-Burntwood Agreement worked with the
hiring process. The bottom line was, though, that
unless the government got in and said, this is
unacceptable, contractors would find the loopholes,
they would find ways around it.

Yes, there were people coming in from B.C., but
not because of the unions. It was because of the
contractors pulling people in from Revelstoke, B.C.
The member for Point Douglas (Mr. Hickes) will
remember the many people who were brought in.
Loandbehold, all of a sudden you would see about
10 percent of the work force used to work at
Revelstoke, B.C. What was the common
connection? The same contractor had worked in
Revelstoke, B.C.,andthey manipulatedthe process
for employment so that they could get their friends
and cronies and connections and fellow workers
from the previous dam site in.

Those are the kinds of things that also cannot be
ignored, because Conawapa or any development
thattakes place withoutconcerns for content will just
become another political football if we do not get
down to those grassroots concemns and make sure
they are dealt with.

* (2140)
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| wanted to express those concerns on the record
today, Madam Deputy Speaker, not because | see
this as the great debate onHydro policy. Imakethis
as merely a footnote, this bill, and affects the
development in terms of Hydro rather peripherally.
| do want the minister—because he has a double
responsibility here: he is the Minister responsible
for Northern and Native Affairs, and he is also the
Minister of Energy and Mines (Mr. Downey)—to
recognize the reality of what the people in the North
are saying in particular, and the day-to-day
immediate focus they are having on concerns
related to Hydro development. As | stressed
before, the flood communities want settlement and
indeed many other northerners do. Northerners
wantto see the kind of pressure thathas taken place
in the past for jobs and training.

You know, | would say that what we see mirrored
in many ways in the discussions in this Chamber is
really what northerners are saying. | would say
most northerners right now in terms of Conawapa
would say exactly what the member for Point
Douglas (Mr. Hickes) said: Do itand doitright, and
listen, and do notignore those factors. Do not ram
itthrough, listen to the environmental concems, look
at the demand, look at the training and education,
look atthe Northem Flood Agreement. Thatisreally
what any responsible government or any
responsible Legislature would be doing.

| have no hesitation today to stand and urge the
Minister of NorthernAftairs (Mr. Downey) to listen to
those concerns. | am saying the concems were
expressed as recently as this Friday, and | know he
has been in many of those communities as well on
a personal basis, and apart from my disagreements
with the minister, | know he has heard probably
many of these concerns before, because that is
whatpeople are looking for at the next stage interms
of Hydro development.

It is not a question, as the Minister of Agriculture
(Mr. Findlay), the new expert on Hydro policy, said
before, yes or no. It is a question in this case of
orderly hydro development. It is what all
governments have supposedly stood for, for the last
25 or 30 years. | believe only the Liberals have
really been the exception on that in recent years, in
terms of their policy. It is a question of what is
orderly hydro development. It is building dams
whenthedemand is there; it is limiting or eliminating
the environmental factors, if at all possible; and
making sure that northerners and native people in
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the North, northern aboriginal people, are not going
to simply be historic victims of previous flooding and
previous environmental damage, but instead have
the chance to be compensated, but also more
importantly for all northerners, and aboriginals in
particular, to benefit from whatever development
takes place.

Thatis something | think that we can all agree on
in this House. | argued strenuously back in the
development of Limestone against many of the
kinds of attitudes | heard at that time. | know the
Minister of Northern Affairs (Mr. Downey) is aware
of it, and | know that he had fights, | am sure, with
some of the people in his own party, because |
remember in 1986, 1987 and 1988 when there were
many people opposed to the hiring policies at
Limestone becausetheysawinit somewayinwhich
aboriginal northerners would be getting all the jobs
and other northemers and other individuals would
not.

We know that is not what happened. We know
thatit was an attemptto be fair, and it was a relatively
fair process. | know that he probably—because |
have not seen him reject, as Minister of Northemn
Affairs or Native Affairs the basic assumptions of
that hiring process, and | believe he supports that
and would argue that, even with some in his own
party, in the North in particular, who oppose that, or
in Winnipeg as well.

I know there are arguments evenin this Chamber,
because there were many concerns expressed by
Conservative members at the time about the hiring
process, that it might leave out people from
Winnipeg. | had arguments and debates in this
Chamber at that time, so | know he supports it. So
that is where we need to go in terms of the next
period of time, and also notto lose sight of some of
those immediate concerns.

| will, in the next few days, be providing details to
the minister on some of the specific cases. As |
have said, | have received more calls, as has the
member for Point Douglas (Mr. Hickes), the last
couple of weeks, couple of months, on hiring than
we had in the previous two or three years. | am
hoping that he will look at that, and if necessary, sit
down with the contractors and tell them that our
commitment to northemn hiring is not just a paper
commitment, thatit is a serious commitment. |hope
he will do that.
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I hope he will listento the immediate concerns that
are being expressed by the Northern Flood
Committee chiefs. They wish to meet with the
minister; | know they wish to try to move the process
along further. Indeed, | hope that the minister will
be responding by meeting with the chiefs, the
Northern Flood chiefs; indeed, meet with them as
soon as is possible, because they have very serious
concerns. Not just, by the way, concerns that are
criticizing the provincial government—I referenced
that earlier. It is not just the provincial government
that can be blamed; the federal government, in
particular, has been creating problems. So those
are some immediate concerns.

In the long run, as we get into debates in this
House, let us not lose sight of what we are trying to
do here, which is to try and develop for the province
of Manitoba the best use of its resources. That
includes its water resources in this particular case,
hydro-electric resources; it includes its human
resources; but it also includes the environment
generally. As | said before, we will be faced in the
future with some tough decisions. | do not believe
that the decisions are going to be as tough on
Conawapa on the environmental side, but| could be
wrong. | have an open mind on that.

In terms of the economic circumstances, | am not
convinced yet of what the final outcome will be. |
am not convinced that the government really is,
because | donotbelievethey knowfromyeartoyear
whatis going tohappenin terms of projections. The
economic circumstances may shift rather
dramatically; but, if it were Wuskwatim we were
dealing with today, Madam Deputy Speaker, | have
said in this House that | would have serious
problems, because Wuskwatim would flood the
Burntwood River, it would create major flooding
problems in Nelson House—and | have seen the
impact the previous flooding had in that community,
as | am sure that the minister has. It would also
have an impact on Thompson, but not in terms of an
immediate impact on the livelihood of the people of
Thompson.

So, if it was Wuskwatim, the balance would be so
heavily againstthe environmentalimpact that | think
we would have a difficult time in this province
pushing ahead with that type of development. Ten
years ago Wuskwatim would have been built, and
the environmental questions would have been dealt
with after. That is no longer acceptable.
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Conawapa, | believe, the balance is on the other
side. | strongly believe that. The balance on
Conawapa is that the environmental impact is going
to be relatively minor. That is what the basic
assessments have said. So | am saying to the
former minister—{interjection] Yes, the former
minister, | know, is aware of the fact—perhaps he
did not catch my comments. | said that the
environmental impact of Wuskwatim is far more
serious than the environmental impact of
Conawapa. Those are the two dams that were next
in sequence, and there were various different
factors that led to Conawapa being the decisionthat
was taken, the next-sequence dam. That was
largely because of the Ontario sale and the balance
of other load factors. It is a complicated matter,
Madam Deputy Speaker.

That is what | am saying. We have to recognize
the reality of the 1990s in that sense and give fair
chance to all those processes to take place. Also,
and | want to just conclude on this remark once
again—once again to emphasize the fact that all
these abstracts mean very little in northern
communities if the jobs do notfollow. | believe that
there have been jobs in the previous numbers of
years that have been the result of that kind of extra
push, and | am looking to the minister.

| am not one, by the way, Madam Deputy
Speaker, who sees this minister as having a conflict
of interest necessarily by being Minister of Northern
andNative Affairs and being minister responsible for
Hydro development (Mr. Downey)—not
necessarily. 1tdepends on which way he deals with
it. | look at it as an opportunity here, because
perhaps we can make sure—and | think if the
minister looks back at what happened in the '80s,
one of the influences in terms of Limestone and
Limestone Training was the fact that there were a
significant number of northern MLAs and ministers
who were from the North. There was the Limestone
working group which travelled the North, and |
realize the government does not have the luxury of
having northern MLAS to do that in terms of its own
caucus.

The minister who is responsible for that portfolio,
| am sure, can perform that role, and if he can just
bridge that gap between the big D Development,
which in the past has had mixed blessings in the
North, but is something that cannot be ignored in
terms of northerners because of the complete lack
of jobs in many communities—and the situation is
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getting tougher all the time—on the one hand, and
the dream, the promise that always precedes any
dam development, Madam Deputy Speaker, the
hopes which are not usually realized. If a
percentage of them are, it is an achievement.

* (2150)

That | think is what the minister needs to do, what
this government needs to do, what any government
would do. If the New Democratic Party was to form
government again, that is what would need to be the
key emphasis, is to make sure that this did not
become strictly something we debate in this
Legislature, but whatever happens, if it has a
positive impact in terms of Manitoba generally, but
particularly northern Manitoba.

So with those few remarks on this matter, Madam
Deputy Speaker, | know it is still standing in the
name of the member for Flin Flon (Mr. Storie) and
this debate will continue, but | appreciate the
opportunity to put on the record some of the
concerns of the many northemers | have talked to,
and hope that we can perhaps have a more
reasoned debate than we have had up to this point
in time, because in many ways | think that is whatis
needed in the next step.

By the way, | do notenvy the government. They
are going to have to make some tough choices on
Conawapa. They have already had to make some
tough choices. It is not straight politics here. We
recognize there are some tough choices they have
to make, which everyone does in this province, and
| look forward to an informed debate in this House
on the Hydro development, on our environment, on
the North, and the future of our northern aboriginal
peoples, and thank the members for their
accommodation in trying to give me the opportunity
to place some comments on the record.

Madam Deputy Speaker: As previously agreed,
this matter will remain standing in the name of the
honourable member for Flin Flon (Mr. Storie).

Blll 11—The Bee-Keepers Repeal Act

Madam Deputy Speaker: To resume debate on
the proposed motion of the honourable Minister of
Agriculture (Mr. Findlay), second reading on Bill 11
(The Bee-Keepers Repeal Act), standing in the
name of the honourable member for Dauphin (Mr.
Plohman).

Some Honourable Members: Pass.
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Madam Deputy Speaker: Is there leave to permit
the bill to remain standing? Stand. (Agreed).

Blll 12—The Animal Husbandry
Amendment Act

MadamDeputySpeaker: Onthe proposed motion
of the honourable Minister of Agriculture (Mr.
Findlay), toresume debate on second reading of Bill
12 (The Animal Husbandry Amendment Act),
standing in the name of the honourable member for
Dauphin (Mr. Plohman).

Some Honourable Members: Pass, stand.
Madam Deputy Speaker: Stand? (Agreed).

BIll 14—The Highways and
Transportation Department
Amendment Act

Madam Deputy Speaker: On the proposed motion
of the honourable Minister of Highways and
Transportation (Mr. Driedger), to resume debate on
second reading of Bill 14 (The Highways and
Transportation Department Amendment Act),
standing in the name ofthe honourable member for
Transcona (Mr. Reid).

Some Honourable Members: Pass.

Madam Deputy Speaker: Is the House ready for
the question?

Stand? Is It the will of the House to allow the bill
to stand? (Agreed).

BIll 15—The Highway Traffic
Amendment Act

Madam Deputy Speaker: On the proposed motion
of the honourable Minister of Highways and
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Transportation (Mr. Driedger) to resume debate on
second reading of Bill 15 (The Highway Traffic
Amendment Act), standing in the name of the
honourable member for Thompson (Mr. Ashton).
Stand. Agreed?

An Honourable Member: Agreed.

BIll 20—The Municlpal Assessment
Amendment Act

Madam Deputy Speaker: On the proposed motion
of the honourable Minister of Rural Development
(Mr. Derkach) to resume debate on second reading
of Bill 20 (The Municipal Assessment Amendment
Act), standing in the name of the honourable
member for Swan River (Ms. Wowchuk). Stand.
Agreed?

An Honourable Member: Agreed.

BIll 38—The Manlitoba Evidence
Amendment Act

MadamDeputy Speaker: Onthe proposed motion
of the honourable Minister of Justice (Mr. McCrae)
to resume debate on second reading of Bill 38 (The
Manitoba Evidence Amendment Act), standing in
the name of the honourable member for Interlake
(Mr. Clif Evans). Stand. Agreed?

Hon. Clayton Manness (Government House
Leader): Ten o'clock, Madam Deputy Speaker.

Madam Deputy Speaker: ls it the will of the House
to call it ten o’clock? Agreed.

Order, please. The hour being 10 p.m., this
House is now adjourned and stands adjourned until
1:30 p.m. tomorrow (Tuesday).
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